STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

BOYD RASHAEEN EVANS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001287

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
OCT 16 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient examination of Cherise Evans regarding Petitioner's alibi defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Indictments and Trial

On November 26, 2007, the Lexington County Grand Jury returned indictments against Petitioner Boyd Rashaen Evans for armed robbery, possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, two counts of kidnapping, and possession of a pistol by a person under twenty-one. App 729 – 736. These charges related to a robbery of a convenience store in Lexington County by four masked black males. App. 181, l. 6 – 182, l. 20. The state subsequently *nolle prossed* the charge of a possession of a pistol by a person under twenty-one.

On January 11 – 14, 2010, Evans and his co-defendant, Lywone Capers, appeared jointly for trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. App. 1. Evans was represented by David Miller and the State was represented by assistant attorney generals Robert Maldonado and Joshua Underwood. App. 1; App. 15.

At the close of the State's case, the trial judge directed a verdict on one count of kidnapping for both defendants. App. 459, ll. 15-18. The jury found Capers not guilty as to all remaining charges but found Evans guilty. Judge McMahon sentenced Evans to concurrent terms of twenty-one years for armed robbery, twenty-one years for kidnapping, and five years for the weapons offense.

Direct Appeal

On direct appeal, Evans was represented by appellate defender Katherine Hudgins, who filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), on June 14, 2011. App. 625. On May 16, 2012, this Court dismissed the appeal pursuant to the Anders procedure. App. 638.

Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings

On February 20, 2013, Evans filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”). App. 640. The State filed its return on April 28, 2015. App. 647. On September 28, 2015, Evans, through counsel, filed an amended PCR application. App. 653.

On January 15, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes. Evans was represented by Kristy Goldberg, and the State was represented by assistant attorney general Patrick Schmeckpeper. App. 655. On May 25 2016, Judge Hayes filed an order of dismissal denying Evans’ PCR application. App. 719.

An appeal from the order of dismissal was perfected through the filing of a petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court on January 20, 2017. The State filed its return to the petition on July 5, 2017. Pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR, this case was transferred to this Court by order filed October 30, 2017. On September 24, 2018, this Court filed an order granting certiorari to review the first question presented in the petition.

This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court defers to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). However, if there is no evidence to support the PCR court's ruling, this Court will reverse. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000) (citation omitted). Questions of law are reviewed de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018); Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

The appellate court does not defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who did not testify before the PCR court. Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 247, 814 S.E.2d 487, 493 (2018), *reh'g denied* (June 12, 2018). The PCR court reviewing the trial transcript is in no better position than the appellate court to determine the credibility of trial witnesses or otherwise assess the strength of the State's case; consequently, this Court gives no deference to the PCR court's credibility findings when we review the testimony of such witnesses. Id. (citing Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (stating the reason appellate courts give "great deference to a [PCR court's] findings" is because the PCR court has "the opportunity to directly observe the [PCR] witnesses"))).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The robbery involved four black males, all with their faces covered by a mask or shirt. The incident was captured on video surveillance, which showed the men enter at 12:34:41 a.m. and leave at 12:35:24 a.m. App. 454, ll. 15-24. The detective produced still photographs from the video. App. 398, ll. 8-18; State's Trial Exhibits 30-32 (still photographs from video), on file with this Court.¹ Neither of the clerks who were working at the gas station during the robbery recognized the men. Evans' step-sister, Glynnessa, and her fiancé, Michael Rhaney, learned of the robbery when they went to fill their car with gas after the robbery occurred. Rhaney also worked at the gas station but had gotten off his shift at 11:00 p.m. When detective Prestigacommo came to the store the next day, Rhaney pulled him aside and claimed that his fiancé's cousins committed the robbery – identifying them by first names only as John, Lywone, and Boyd. Though Rhaney told the detective that he did not know the fourth person, he listed four names during his trial testimony – John, Boyd, Lywone, and Anton a/k/a “Ton.” Boyd admitted that he did not know Lywone Capers or Boyd Evans very well and had not seen them since 2005, save his allegation that he saw them at 2:45 p.m. on July 25th in a blue and tan Ford Explorer. Notably, Rhaney did not give the detective the story about seeing Evans in the Explorer until after the officer showed him the picture of the vehicle involved in the incident. App. 255, l. 14 – App. 266, l. 11; App. 401, l. 12 – 404, l. 14.

Rhaney then took the detective to see Glynnessa, Evans' step-sister and Capers' cousin. The detective told her that some of her family members were suspects in the robbery of the gas station. Glynnessa was embroiled in a years long battle to win back custody of her daughter from Evans' aunt and adoptive mother, Emma Evans. Emma Evans took in Glynnessa's

¹ The Order of Dismissal indicates the PCR judge's review included “the transcripts and documents from the prior proceedings.” App. 721.

daughter while Glynnessa was incarcerated for voluntary manslaughter from 1999 to 2002. Glynnessa lived in the same household as Evans from his birth in 1989 until her father's death in 1992. She reunited with that side of the family before her daughter was born in 1998, at which time Evans would have been approximately nine years old. Glynnessa and Evans both resided with Emma Evans for a brief time in 2005. Glynnessa had not seen Evans again until the day he allegedly came to her trailer unannounced on July 25, 2007 and left after spending approximately fifteen minutes in the area visiting other friends. Glynnessa admitted that she had even less prior interaction with Capers and would "not really" be able to pick him out of a crowd. While she said she would recognize Evans if she saw him, it is notable that the person alleged to be Evans in the surveillance footage had their face covered. App. 305, l. 19 – 330, l. 5; App. 346, l. 12 – 351, l. 14; App. 372, l. 18 – 392, l. 5.

Detective Prestigacomo said that when he told Glynnessa why he was there, he "learned that she was aware of the robbery that had taken place." App. 405, ll. 6-16. She said that her brother and cousins had visited her the day before. App. 405, l. 18-19. At trial, Glynnessa claimed that the boys arrived as the sun was going down but later agreed that she must be incorrect about the time if Rhaney also saw them before he left for work. App. 346, ll. 12-25; App. 383, l. 9 – 384, l. 22. Prestigacomo said that "after a brief conference," he showed Glynnessa one still picture from the surveillance footage that had all four individuals in the same frame. She identified them as Boyd Evans, Lywone Capers, John Sosa, and "Ton" based on their clothing and build. App. 406, ll. 10-19; App. 407, ll. 17-21. Like Rhaney, the detective showed Glynnessa the picture of the Explorer before asking for a description of the kind of car the boys were in when they allegedly arrived. App. 406, l. 20-25. Rhaney and Glynnessa alleged that the

Explorer belonged to Emma Evans, though the detective later determined it was actually owned by Frederick Neal.² App. 273, ll. 7-11; App. 406, ll. 21-25; App. 408, ll. 1-17.

When shown copies of other still photographs from the surveillance footage, Glynnessa said she recognized a cut or scar on the person's shoulder as belonging to Evans. App. 322, l. 13 – 323, l. 18; App. 1-15. The jury was shown photographs taken of Evans following his arrest and again while he was in jail. The detective characterized Evans' scars on his shoulder and elbow as "similar" to those of the suspect seen at the cash register. App. 434, l. 4 – 435, l. 6; State's Trial Exhibits 40-50 (photos of Evans), on file with this Court. The judge also granted the solicitor's request to display a portion of Evans' body to the jury in the courtroom. App. 428, l. 12 – 433, l. 7; App. 436, l. 25 – 437, l. 23.

Glynnessa claimed that the manager of the mobile home park, Rosa Lugo, had ordered the boys to leave the area that day, after which Glynnessa did not see them again. Despite the solicitor's representation that a Biggers hearing was unnecessary because Lugo would not give identification testimony, detective Prestigacommo improperly testified that Lugo identified Evans as the driver the Ford Explorer she saw that day. App. 245, l. 17-23; App. 408, l. 3 – 409, l. 23; see also App. 294 – 300. While trial counsel's failure to object to this testimony was not raised as a separate allegation of ineffective assistance at Evans' PCR hearing, it is relevant to the PCR court's prejudice analysis because the jury's verdict was likely influenced by this improper testimony that Lugo saw Evans in Lexington on the afternoon prior to the incident.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel Miller testified that Evans always maintained his innocence and said he was in Charlotte the entire day. App. 692, l. 11 – 693, l. 3; App. 703, ll. 13-19. Though trial counsel initially said that Evans did not provide any witness to corroborate

² Neal was not a suspect in the armed robbery investigation. App. 410, l. 7 – 412, l. 9.

his alibi, he admitted that Evan's sister, Cherise Evans (hereinafter "Cherise"), provided an alibi and testified at trial. Compare App. 693, ll. 8-10 and App. 705, ll. 15-16, with App. 696, ll. 17-20, App. 699, l. 9 and App. 705, l. 19 – 708, l. 2.

Cherise Evans was called by the defense as an alibi witness at Evans' trial. App. 532, l. 17 – 535, l. 1; App. 537, ll. 10-16. Trial counsel asked Cherise whether she recalled who picked her up from work over July 25th and 26th of 2007, to which she responded: "my brother Boyd." He also asked Cherise whether Evans had left the Charlotte, North Carolina area over those dates, to which she responded: "no." App. 534, l. 4 – 535, l. 1. Trial counsel admitted that his notes reflected that Cherise worked "at Church's [Chicken], the 21st thought the 18th, until close" and Evans picked her up at 1:00 a.m. App. 702, l. 14 – 703, l. 4; Tr. 708, l. 25 – 709, l. 6. Trial counsel further admitted that the sole purpose of calling Cherise to testify was as an alibi witness. App. 705, l. 19 – 707, l. 15. Yet, trial counsel did not question Cherise in front of the jury regarding what **time** Evans picked her up. App. 668, ll. 5-13; App. 707, l. 16 – 708, l. 2.

In the Order of Dismissal, **Judge Hayes found that trial counsel was deficient** in failing to elicit testimony from Cherise Evans (hereinafter "Cherise") that Petitioner Evans was picking her up from work in Charlotte, North Carolina *at roughly the same time* that the armed robbery occurred in Lexington County, South Carolina. Trial counsel had information in his file regarding the time that Cherise got off work, which would have strengthened Evan's alibi defense. App. 723. However, Judge Hayes found that Evans did not prove that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there was a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. App. 724. Judge Hayes noted that Evans' co-defendant was acquitted despite very similar identification testimony from Glynnessa Evans (hereinafter "Glynnessa") and Michael Rhaney. However, he found that Glynnessa had a closer relationship

with Evans than the co-defendant and that Evans had “an identifiable scar, which was visible in the video of the armed robbery.” App. 725. He also noted that the identification testimony was “attacked by aggressive cross-examination at trial.” App. 725. Thus, he ruled:

As a result, this court is not convinced that even with the extra alibi information, the defense would have overcome the identification testimony presented by Ms. [Glynessa] Evans and Mr. [Rhaneey]. Applicant’s claim was not that he came to Lexington and returned to Charlotte, but, rather, that he was in Charlotte the entire day. Accordingly, Applicant has failed to show a reasonable possibility that but for counsel’s error the outcome of his proceeding would have been different. This allegation is therefore denied and dismissed.

App. 725.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient examination of Cherise Evans regarding Petitioner's alibi defense.

Introduction

Whether trial counsel was deficient is not at issue in this appeal, as the PCR court properly found that trial counsel's failure to elicit the time that Petitioner Evans picked up his sister, Cherise, from work on the night of the robbery and argue that point to the jury in support of an alibi defense, was error constituting deficient performance. App. 723. Rather, the issue before this Court is whether the PCR court erred in finding that Evans failed to prove prejudice from this deficiency. The PCR court's finding regarding prejudice was based upon its determination that the alibi defense would not likely have led to a different outcome in light of the other evidence adduced at trial. App. 724 – 725. In its return to the petition, Respondent defended that finding, but also submitted that a prejudice finding was precluded because Cherise was not called to testify at the PCR hearing. State's Return, pp. 13-17. Notably, however, Respondent took the position at the PCR hearing that Cherise was not a necessary witness. App. 660, ll. 14-25.

As will be discussed more fully *infra*, without the time of the pick-up in evidence, Cherise's testimony at trial did not provide an "alibi" for Evans. "[S]ince an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused's guilt, **a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.**" State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980) (quoting 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 136 (1980)) (emphasis added). The only other evidence against Evans was unreliable "identification" testimony and some similarity between a scar on his shoulder and one of the perpetrators. Had the jury been presented with a true alibi defense on

behalf of Evans, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have found him not guilty, as it did Lywone Capers, Evans' co-defendant, who was "identified" by the same witnesses but presented a real alibi defense.

Effective Assistance of Counsel

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684-86 (1984); U.S. Const. amend. VI. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. at 687. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. A PCR applicant has the burden of proving his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence. Wigington v. State, 413 S.C. 578, 584, 776 S.E.2d 407, 410 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000) and Rule 71.1(e), SCRCPP).

Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694. "[A] movant is not required to reenact how a hypothetical trial would have proceeded had particular evidence been utilized, but to show that counsel knew of the evidence and was ineffective in failing to use it, to movant's prejudice." Black v. State, 151 S.W.3d 49 (Mo. 2004).

Discussion

The PCR court properly found that trial counsel was deficient in his representation of Evans where he failed to ask Cherise Evans, the sole witness called to support Evans' alibi, what time Evans picked her up from work on the date of the incident. App. 723. The robbery of the gas station in Lexington, South Carolina occurred at approximately 12:30 a.m. on July 26, 2007. App. 219, ll. 2-18; App. 454, ll. 16-22. Trial counsel's notes reflected that Evans picked Cherise up at 1:00 a.m. on July 26, 2007 at the Church's Chicken in Charlotte, North Carolina. However, he failed to elicit the information regarding the time when Evans picked up Cherise during her testimony at trial. As a result, her trial testimony did not rule out the possibility that Evans could have also been in Lexington at the time of the robbery. The PCR court accordingly found that trial counsel erred in failing to present that information, which was contained in his file, to the jury. App. 723.

However, the PCR court erred in finding that Evans failed to prove he was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient conduct. App. 702, l. 14 – 703, l. 4; App. 708, l. 25 – 709, l. 6. "In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial." Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018), *reh'g denied* (Mar. 29, 2018). "In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State's case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury." Id. "Ordinarily, the existence of 'overwhelming evidence' does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice." Id. at 189, 810 S.E.2d at 844. "[F]or the evidence to be 'overwhelming' such that it categorically precludes a finding of prejudice... the evidence must include something conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or a combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the Strickland standard of a

‘reasonable probability... the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt’ cannot possibly be met.”³ Id. at 191, 810 S.E.2d at 845.

In Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995), the applicant presented the testimony of the two witnesses who he claimed would have testified that he was in Florida when the crimes were committed. His grandfather, Sylvester Jordan, stated he “believed” Glover was in Florida on the date the crimes were committed. 318 S.C. at 497, 458 S.E.2d at 539. However, Mr. Jordan subsequently stated he knew “nothing” and testified he did not recall any specific dates Glover was in Florida. Id. The second witness was Glover’s aunt, Sandra Jordan. Id. She testified Glover came to her house in Florida at approximately 8:00 *a.m.* on the date the crimes were committed and stayed approximately fifteen minutes. Id. A majority of the Supreme Court found that the witnesses’ testimony did not foreclose the possibility that Glover could have committed the crimes at 8:30 *p.m.* in light of testimony that Williamsburg County was a six-and-a-half-hour drive from the witness’ home in Florida. 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540. Thus, the witnesses did not provide an alibi and Glover failed to prove prejudice from counsel’s admitted failure to investigate. Id.

In Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014), the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals’ holding that the applicant was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to interview the defendant’s former girlfriend as a potential alibi witness. Walker was accused of kidnapping and sexual assault. 407 S.C. at 403, 756 S.E.2d at 145. The Victim reviewed surveillance footage from the gas station where she alleged that she met her assailant, who offered to help her when her car would not start. Id. A gas station employee identified Walker as the man pointed out by the Victim on the video. Id. When interviewed by police, Walker

³ Notably, here, Respondent characterized the evidence against Evans as merely “substantial” in its Return. Return to Cert., pp. 17-19.

admitted going to the gas station but denied offering any help to anyone there or any involvement with the alleged victim. Id. He said he spent the afternoon and evening at a friend's home and then returned to his girlfriend's, Robina Reed's, home around 9:30 or 10:00 p.m. for the remainder of the night. Id.

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