**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge  
(Common Pleas, PCR Appeal)

---

BOYD RASHAEEN EVANS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001287

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III  
Eleventh Judicial Circuit Solicitor

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

FEB 15 2019

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

Further, “[i]n order for counsel’s inadequate performance to constitute a Sixth Amendment violation, petitioner must show that counsel’s failures prejudiced his defense.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. at 534, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S., at 692, 104 S.Ct. 2052). “The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington*, 131 S.Ct. at 792 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693). The Supreme Court has cautioned: “An assessment of the likelihood of a result more favorable to the defendant must exclude the possibility of arbitrariness, whimsy, caprice, ‘nullification,’ and the like.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694-695. “[W]hile in some instances ‘even an isolated error’ can support an ineffective-assistance claim if it is ‘sufficiently egregious and prejudicial,’ *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 496 106 S.Ct. 2639, 91 L.Ed.2d 397 (1986), it is difficult to establish ineffective assistance when counsel’s overall performance indicates active and capable advocacy.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. at 111.

Prejudice is not sufficiently shown, and an applicant is not entitled to relief for guilt phase related claims, where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt and the deficient performance did not affect jury consideration. *Rosemond v. Catoe*, 383 S.C. 320, 325-326, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009). See also *Jones v. State*, 332 S.C. at 333, 504 S.E.2d at 824 (“The bottom line is that we must determine whether or not Jones has met his burden of showing that it is reasonably likely that the jury’s death sentence would have been different if counsel had presented additional information about Jones’s mental condition.”). *Cf. Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 171-172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992) (reviewing claim malice charge was unconstitutional: “Based upon all the evidence presented tending to prove or disprove malice, no rational juror could have failed to find malice ... The erroneous malice charge beyond a reasonable doubt did not contribute to the verdict. Thus, the error was harmless.”).

When the questions presented in the petition are analyzed within this legal framework, and in light of the record before the PCR court, the record well supports relief was not warranted and certiorari review is not warranted. Petitioner fails to show an absence of probative facts supporting the PCR judge's ruling. Petitioner's argument simply failed under the greater weight of the evidence before the PCR court. Again, certiorari review is not warranted. The petition should be denied.

## ARGUMENT

### I. (a)

**Petitioner failed to produce Cherise Evan's alibi witness testimony or otherwise offer her testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing as required under *Bannister v. State*. Therefore, the finding of lack of prejudice by the PCR Judge was proper.**

The Petition for Writ of Certiorari must be denied as the consequence of Petitioner's failure to introduce the testimony of his alleged favorable alibi witness, Ms. Cherise Evans.

"An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense." *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 673, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)). As to the second prong, the South Carolina Supreme Court "has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice with the witness' failure to testify at trial." *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (citing *Pauling v. State*, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998)). The Court in *Bannister* made a definitive determination that the absence of the witness's testimony either in person or otherwise admitted pursuant to the rules of evidence is fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809-10. The absence of such testimony, such that only *speculation* can be made as to precisely what a witness

would have said, precludes the establishment of prejudice. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809 (citing *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995)).

The circumstances of *Bannister* closely follow those presented at the PCR hearing for Petitioner Boyd Evans. Alibi witness Cherise Evans did testify at trial. However, petitioner's first claim for ineffective assistance of counsel is based on trial counsel's failure to *adequately* question Ms. Evans, and elicit what time Petitioner picked her up from her job in Charlotte. (PCR App. pp. 711, line 17 through pp. 712, line 13). The crux of his argument being that the absence of that one question prevents the creation of a complete alibi, and establishes both deficiency and prejudice as to his representation at trial. (PCR App. pp. 713, lines 1-6). However, upon being granted a PCR evidentiary hearing, Petitioner's attorney failed to subpoena Ms. Cherise Evans so that her testimony could be heard by the Judge. (PCR App. pp. 660, lines 1-8). Ms. Evans did not testify at hearing, nor was the content of her testimony *otherwise offered in accordance with the rules of evidence*. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809.

In initial matters before the PCR Judge, Petitioner's attorney requested the Record be kept open so that Ms. Evan's testimony could be provided at a later date. Attorney for the State objected and the Judge ultimately concluded that while he would allow counsel to add to the record, he would not consider additional evidence or testimony. (PCR App. pp. 717 lines 1-4). During the hearing, in lieu of Ms. Evan's testimony, the Petitioner testified as to his alleged whereabouts during the timeframe that the robbery took place. In doing so he stated that he drove Cherise Evans to work at 9am and picked her up from work at midnight. (PCR App. pp. 672, lines 3-10).

Trial counsel, David Miller, later testified at the PCR hearing. During his testimony Mr. Miller read from his October 28, 2008 pretrial notes pertaining to Cherise Evans. The totality of his notes as to Cherise Evan's potential testimony includes the truncated phrase:

Cherise, Church's Chicken, 21st through 28<sup>th</sup> till close, Boyd picked up at one.

(PCR App. pp. 709, lines 3-6). No evidence was provided proving this to be PM or AM, and Mr.

Miller states that,

I take that to be 1:00 in the afternoon. I don't know that for a fact. She was working at Church's, the 21<sup>st</sup> through the 28<sup>th</sup>, until close, so maybe that's one in the morning. I don't know whether that was the following day, the day before, the day of, you know. That was not made clear".

(PCR App. pp. 702 line 21 through 703 line 2). Upon close examination of the PCR evidentiary hearing transcript, Mr. Miller's testimony indicates that these notes came *from interviewing Petitioner*, not Cherise Evans. As indicated by Mr. Miller, these were personal notes that he made when he interviewed "him".<sup>1</sup> (PCR App. pp. 709, lines 3-5). No further evidence, speculative or otherwise, was provided by counsel for Petitioner relating to the alleged deficient examination of Cherise Evans. In any event, Mr. Miller's testimony indicated that he thoroughly investigated Cherise Evans, but could not clarify the details in question. (PCR App., p. 702, line 20 through p. 703, line 4).

It warrants consideration that the testimony provided by Ms. Evans at trial conflicts with the note made by Mr. Miller, and otherwise seems implausible. At trial, in response to how she was able to remember July 25<sup>th</sup>, as opposed to any other day, Ms. Evans stated, "Because my sister's birthday's the \_\_\_ rd and my grandfather's birthday is the \_\_\_ th and I had the 23<sup>rd</sup> and 24<sup>th</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Continued questioning from various attorneys makes it unclear where this particular note came from. This lack of clarity as to the note further undermines the limited speculative evidence that Petitioner provides as to Cherise Evans' anticipated testimony.

off and the 25<sup>th</sup> I had to be to work.” (PCR App. pp. 539, lines 1-6). This directly contradicts the trial counsel’s notes as to her working the 21<sup>st</sup> through 28<sup>th</sup>. (PCR App. pp. 709, lines 3-6). The evidence is further self-contradictory in that Petitioner Evans claims he picked up his sister at midnight, while Mr. Miller’s note suggests “one”. Regardless of the AM/PM distinction, the evidence at the PCR hearing is not corroborated, and in the absence of Ms. Evans appearing and testifying, the PCR Court had no way of determining whether the note was at all accurate. Lastly, if all the speculative evidence is believed, despite contradiction, it would mean that Petitioner Evans dropped his sister off at work at 9am and picked her up at 1:00am, which would constitute a sixteen hour work day at Church’s Chicken for a nineteen year old girl. (PCR App. pp. 533, lines 4-6). This is technically possible, but such a presumption casts substantial doubt on the accuracy of the information provided at the PCR evidentiary hearing, especially when such a long work day was not stated as a reason for recalling the specific date in question.

As a result, the only evidence tending to provide the substance of Ms. Evan’s testimony is the testimony of Petitioner and the recitation of notes from counsel made while seemingly interviewing Petitioner. Even if these notes were taken from an interview of Ms. Evans, it would not rise to a level sufficient to constitute testimony as is required by *Bannister*; it merely constitutes hearsay, inadmissible under the rules of evidence.<sup>2</sup>

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). Circumstances such as those presented in this matter are precisely why the *Bannister* rule exists. “In reviewing the PCR judge’s decision, an appellate court is concerned only with whether any

---

<sup>2</sup> *Pauling v. v. State*, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998) presents a substantially different circumstance, as the notes admitted in *Pauling* were **written by the absent witness** during the course of her job as a triage nurse.

evidence of probative value exists to support that decision.” *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011). The Court in *Bannister* has ruled that in the absence of testimony from the alleged favorable witness, or such testimony otherwise properly offered, a PCR applicant *cannot* provide probative evidence in an ineffective assistance claim. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809-10.

A showing of prejudice demands the provision of the testimony of a favorable witness in reliable form *from the witness herself*, not speculation by others: See *Pauling v. v. State*, 331 S.C. 606, 610-11, 503 S.E.2d 468, 471 (1998) (noting that Petitioner satisfied the witness testimony requirement by presenting “evidence as to the nature of the nurse’s testimony by introducing her triage notes”). Due to Petitioner Evans’ failure to present Ms. Cherise Evans testimony in any non-speculative manner, we have no way of knowing whether Ms. Evans would have in fact testified as speculated by Petitioner, nor do we know how her testimony would have held-up in the face of cross examination, based upon the inconsistencies of the speculative testimony from Petitioner. (See Footnote 2, *Supra*). The Petitioner’s failure to produce Ms. Evans’ actual testimony prevents the establishment of a complete alibi.

In absence of proper testimonial evidence from the favorable witness, the PCR judge reasonably found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden and the Petition for Writ of Certiorari must be denied.

**I. (b)**

**Based upon the substantial evidence of guilt admitted against Petitioner at trial, the PCR Judge was correct in his ruling that Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving prejudice from ineffective assistance of counsel.**

The Court properly concluded that Mr. Evans did not carry his burden of demonstrating prejudice from the error of trial counsel in light of the substantial evidence of guilt admitted during trial. Upon review of the record and the Court’s Order of Dismissal, there is more than

sufficient probative evidence to support the Court's ruling, and denial of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is proper in this matter.

"An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense." *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 673, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)) "In reviewing the PCR judge's decision, an appellate court is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support that decision." *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011). If there is any evidence supporting the PCR Judge's ruling that prejudice cannot be found in light of the substantial evidence of guilt against the Petitioner, then the ruling must be preserved and the Petition for Writ of Certiorari denied.

Petitioner asserts that trial counsel's failure to elicit specific testimony from Cherise Evans regarding the time in which her brother allegedly picked her up from work on July 26<sup>th</sup> supports a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. The PCR Judge disagreed, based upon a well-reasoned evaluation of the entire record. Petitioner can only point to the alibi testimony of his own sister, Cherise Evans, as evidence supporting his defense at trial. While the PCR Judge found that trial counsel was deficient in examining Ms. Evans, he was correct in his decision to dismiss the matter and in his reasoning for that dismissal.<sup>3</sup> The Judge notes that even if Ms. Evan's testimony had been fully introduced as desired, it would not have created a reasonable probability of differing result at trial given the substantial degree of evidence in this case

---

<sup>3</sup> Respondent maintains that trial counsel was not deficient in failing to elicit the speculated additional testimony from Ms. Evans during trial, but recognizes the well understood holding in *Strickland* that if a Court may more easily "dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice. . . that course should be followed". *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 697, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2069, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

identifying Petitioner as one of the perpetrators. (PCR App. pp. 724-725).

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper function of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). “The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington*, 131 S.Ct. at 792 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693). In light of the evidence at trial – specifically the surveillance video showing Petitioner’s scar and the detailed testimony from Michael Rhaney, Glynessa Evans, and Rosa Lugo – and the lack of proper testimony at evidentiary hearing, the PCR Judge reasonably found Petitioner was not entitled to relief.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.